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Section 1. Request for Proposals
A.

Notice – posted on the Village of Oak Brook website January 31, 2014:

OAK BROOK POLICE PENSION FUND
Request for Proposal
INVESTMENT CONSULTING SERVICES
January, 2014
The Oak Brook Police Pension Fund is soliciting proposals for Investment Consulting Services.
Proposals should be addressed to:
Rose Kane
Police Pension Clerk
Village of Oak Brook
1200 Oak Brook Road
Oak Brook, IL 60523
The closing date and time for receipt of proposals is Friday, February 14, 2014 at 4:00 P.M.
prevailing time. Proposals received after the submittal time will be rejected and returned
unopened to the sender.
A complete proposal package, of which this notice is a part, is on file for inspection and may be
downloaded from the Village’s website at www.oak-brook.org or picked up at the Butler
Government Center, 1200 Oak Brook Road, Oak Brook, Illinois 60523, between the hours of
8:30 a.m. and 4:30 p.m., Monday through Friday. There is no charge for the package.
Questions regarding this Request for Proposal may be addressed to:
Finance Director/Treasurer Sharon Dangles (630) 368-5072, sdangles@oak-brook.org.
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Section 2. Introduction
A. Purpose and Invitation to Submit Proposal
The Oak Brook Police Pension Fund Board (“Board”) is seeking proposals to provide
Investment Consulting Services for management of the investment portfolio of the Oak Brook
Police Pension Fund (“Fund”). It is anticipated that the consultant will provide advisory services
to the Trustees of the Board as outlined in the Scope of Services.
There is no expressed or implied obligation of the Board to reimburse responding firms for any
expenses incurred for responding to this request. During the evaluation process, the Trustees
reserve the right, where it is in the Fund’s best interests, to request additional information or
clarification from proposers or to allow corrections of errors or omissions. At the discretion of
the Fund, the firms submitting proposals may be asked to make an oral presentation as part of
the evaluation process.
In the event of a merger or acquisition of the investment consultant, any contract awarded as a
result of this RFP process will be transferable only with the written approval of the Board.
If any firm submitting a proposal intends on subcontracting out any portion of the engagement,
that pact and the name of the proposed subcontracting firm(s) must be clearly disclosed in the
proposal. Following the award of contract, no additional subcontracting will be allowed without
the prior written consent of the Trustees.
B. General Information
Section 5/1-101.5 of the Pension Code defines “Consultant” as follows: “as any person or entity
retained or employed by a board of the pension fund to make recommendations in developing
investment strategy, assist with finding appropriate investment advisors or monitor the Board’s
investments”.
In order to be a “Consultant” with respect to the Pension Fund, the person or entity must be one
or more of the following:
1. Registered as investment advisor under the Federal Investment Advisor Act of 1940;
2. Registered as an investment advisor under the Illinois Security Law of 1953;
3. A Bank as defined in Investment Advisors Act of 1940;
4. An insurance company authorized to transact business in the State of Illinois.
A contract awarded to a “Consultant” may not exceed five (5) years in duration, which may not
be extended or renewed. However, at the end of the term of the “Consultant” contract, the
“Consultant” is eligible to compete for a new contract. The Board intends to award a one (1)
year contract with four (4) additional one (1) year extensions. “Consultants” proposing for
pension fund consultant services must include a written disclosure of the following:
1. The offeror;
2. Any entity that is the parent of, or owns a controlling interest in the offeror;
3. Any entity that is subsidiary of, or in which the controlling interest is owed by, the offeror.
The Prohibited Transactions Section of the Illinois Pension Code, 40 ILCS §5-110(d) provides
that a “Consultant” shall not knowingly cause or advise a Pension Fund to engage in
investment transaction when the investment consultant has any direct interest in the income,
gains, or profits of the investment consultant through which the investment transaction is made
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or, has a business relationship with that consultant that would result in a pecuniary benefit to
the consultant as a result the investment transaction.
The Fund is a single-employer defined benefit plan for pension and disability benefits
established pursuant to Article 3 of the Illinois Pension Code (40 ILCS 5/3, commonly referred to
as a “downstate Illinois police pension fund”). Pursuant to state law, the pension plan is
managed by a Pension Board made up of two officers elected by active participants, one
annuitant elected by the annuitants, and two members appointed by the Village President. By
statute the Treasurer of the Village also serves as Treasurer of the Fund.
As of January 1, 2014 the Fund has 41 active and 37 annuitant participants and assets of
approximately $32 million. Selected pages from the most recent actuarial valuation report, a
current investment listing, and the Fund’s Investment Policy are attached in Section 6.
The Board currently utilizes Lowery Asset Consulting (Lowery) as its investment consultant.
Lowery advises the Board on its investment policy, selecting mutual fund investments for the
equity portion of the portfolio, and MB Financial Bank (MB) is responsible for the active
management of the fixed portion of the portfolio. MB also serves as custodian for all of the
Fund’s investments. To be in compliance with the Illinois State Pension Code, the Board is
soliciting proposals for investment consultant(s). Both of the vendors above will be invited to
submit a proposal for consideration in this process. The Board may also consider again hiring a
separate investment consultant for equity investments and a different one for the fixed income
investments.

Section 3. Scope of Services
The following services are to be provided in the consultant’s base proposal.
1. The consultant is to assist in the periodic review and update of the Fund’s investment policy.
2. The consultant will advise and assist the Board in implementing an investment strategy that
considers fixed income/equity allocations, diversification, passive/active investment
strategies, etc. The recommendations shall be based on the current investment climate,
future market assumptions, and statutory investment limitations.
3. By the 15th of each month the consultant shall prepare a monthly report providing investment
description, purchase price, face value, rate of return, maturity date, and market value. The
report shall also include a listing of all investment transactions occurring during the month
4. At least quarterly, the consultant will prepare a performance report that calculates the rate of
return for the portfolio and measures this performance against agreed upon benchmarks.
The rate of return shall be calculated net of all fees and at a minimum a rate of return shall
be calculated separately for the fixed income portfolio, the equity portfolio, and the total
portfolio.
5. On an annual basis the consultant shall report on the cumulative investment return of the
Fund.
6. At a minimum, the consultant shall be required to attend the regularly scheduled quarterly
meetings of the Fund and shall make an investment presentation at these meetings. In
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addition, the Fund has an annual membership meeting (usually in May) at which time an
investment presentation shall be made to the individual members of the Fund. The Board
may require attendance by the consultant at additional meetings as may be needed from
time to time.
7. During the time between quarterly meetings the consultant shall communicate directly with
the Treasurer regarding any material unexpected changes in the Fund such as large
investment changes due to market conditions, large sales or call of securities before
maturity, changes in mutual fund selections, etc.
8. The consultant will keep abreast of important economic, financial and legal issues that relate
to public pension funds in Illinois. The consultant will assist the Fund with monitoring and
complying with all statutory requirements and Division of Insurance rules and regulations
relating to investments.
9. The selected consultant(s) will acknowledge in writing that it is a fiduciary in respect to the
Fund.
10. The consultant shall disclose whether it is an “Illinois Finance Entity” as defined in 40 ILCS
5/1-110.10 and if necessary shall provide the annual certification regarding compliance with
the High Risk Home Loan Act.
11. It must be acknowledged that any agreement arising out of this request for proposal is not
necessarily an exclusive investment arrangement. The Board reserves the right to invest
funds seeking the assistance of the selected consultant or any additional consultants as the
Board deems appropriate.

Section 4. Proposal
A. Rules for Proposals
Seven (7) bound copies and one in electronic format shall be submitted:
Rose Kane
Police Pension Clerk
Village of Oak Brook
1200 Oak Brook Road
Oak Brook, IL 60523
on or before 4:00 p.m. Friday, February 14, 2014. Any proposal received after this date and
time will be refused and returned unopened to the sender. Any questions regarding this RFP
should be directed to Sharon Dangles, Finance Director/Treasurer, at (630) 368-5072.
Required Items
Items that need to be included with the proposal at a minimum include the following:

1. A description of the firm and its relevant prior experience with public pension funds or similar
entities.

2. A current listing of the firm’s Illinois public pension fund or similar clients.
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3. A description of the relevant background and experience of the proposed team assigned to
the Oak Brook Police Pension Fund engagement.

4. Names, addresses, and telephone numbers of persons who may be contacted for
references. These references should be relevant to public pension funds.

5. The fee proposal. The consultant shall disclose any fees charged to the fund as well as any
commissions received.
B. Technical Proposal
1. General Requirements
The purpose of the technical proposal is to demonstrate the qualifications, competence and
capacity of the firms seeking to provide investment consulting services to the Board. As such,
the substance of the proposal will carry more weight than the form or manner of presentation.
However, the presentation will be considered as an example of the type of work typical of the
firm and the staff assigned to the engagement.
The technical proposal should address all of the points outlined in the request for proposal. The
proposal should be prepared simply and economically, providing a straightforward, concise
description of the proposer’s ability to satisfy the requirements as outlined. While additional
data may be presented, the following subjects must be included.
2. Firm organization
a.

A general description of the office of the firm or organization that would provide service
to the Board including size, number of employees, and primary business (brokerage,
consulting, pension planning, insurance, banking, etc.).

b.

A history of the firm or organization and its relationship (if any) to other firms, including a
description of the ownership structure of the organization, giving specific details with
regard to its parent, any affiliated companies, or any joint ventures.

c.

A statement that the firm or organization can provide all of the services as requested, or
alternatively a statement taking exception to certain services which cannot be provided
as requested.

d.

A list of all pension fund clients served by the office that would provide service including
the value of each client’s assets and the type of services provided.
The name, title, and contact information of five references familiar with both the
organization’s business style and staff proposed to be assigned to this engagement.
Preferably these references should be from pension funds similar to the Oak Brook
Police Pension Fund.

e.

3. Personnel
Identify the key personnel who would perform work for the Fund and provide a biography for
each that includes their education, certificates, experience, tenure with your organization, and
other qualifications. Include in the biography the investment consulting clients to which the key
personnel current perform service. Please note that the selected firm will be required to notify
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the Pension Board members regarding any changes in research or senior professionals, any
other pertinent personnel, or in the structure of the organization within 30 days.
4. Independence and Litigation
a. The Board has not ruled out the use of broker/dealers to assist in the investment
process. That being said, the proposal shall state to what extent the organization and its
employees are independent as it relates to the engagement.
b. The firm or organization shall disclose any professional relationships involving the
Village of Oak Brook or any elected or appointed officials. Please indicate whether any
of these relationships would constitute a conflict of interest or the appearance of a
conflict of interest. This disclosure requirement will be required for the duration of any
agreement arising out of this request for proposal.
c. Indicate whether the firm or organization owns or is affiliated with any money
management firm, broker/dealer, or any other organization that sell services or receives
commissions. Also indicate what your policy is regarding independence and conflict of
interest.
d. Indicate whether the firm has ever (i) been the focus of a non-routine inquiry or
investigation from the Securities and Exchange (SEC) or any similar federal or state
regulatory body, (ii) been a party of any litigation concerning fiduciary responsibility or
other investment related matter, or (iii) submitted a claim to its errors and omissions,
fiduciary liability, and/or fidelity bond insurance carrier(s).
5. Technical Approach
a. General Approach and Consulting Capabilities
i)
ii)
iii)

Outline all investment advisory services provided by the firm
Describe the firms’ fiduciary responsibility as consultant to the Trustees.
Describe the firm’s process/philosophy for client support and service response
procedures. How is day-to-day support provided?

b. Investment Policy Development and Asset Allocation
i)
ii)
iii)

Discuss the approach your firm would take in the formation of investment goals
and policies, including a description of the methodologies that would be used to
develop an asset allocation.
How frequently should client review their asset allocation?
Describe your firm’s view on indexing and passive management as opposed to
active management.

c. Investment Manager/Mutual Fund Selection-Equity Investments
i)
ii)

Describe the firm’s process for investment manager/mutual fund screening and
selection. Discuss the extent to which the firm uses quantitative and qualitative
analysis, and the relative weighting the firm places on each.
Describe the method used to maintain data on investment managers and/or
mutual funds, including names of third party databases to which the firm
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iii)
iv)
v)
vi)
d.

subscribes. Describe the frequency and methodology by which any databases
are updated.
In addition to performance information, what other types of data are available on
the firm’s database? Is the research and data provided to clients proprietary or
purchased?
State whether your firm receives revenue in any form from investment managers
or mutual funds.
Describe your process for ongoing monitoring of investment managers and
mutual funds.
Do you set specific criteria for trading costs with active and passive managers
and funds?

Fixed Income Investments
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)
v)

Describe your firm’s philosophy for management of the fixed income portfolio. Is
the approach an active management style or a passive style such as laddered
portfolio?
How are securities bought and sold in the portfolio? Are competitive bids
obtained? How much turnover is expected annually in the portfolio?
Describes your firm’s philosophy as it relates to callable securities, zero coupon
securities, and mortgaged-backed securities.
Describe what benchmarks are used to monitor the portfolio.
Describe the process for ongoing monitoring of the fixed income investment
portfolio. How often will an account manager review the portfolio?

e. Performance Measurement and Reporting

i)
ii)

iii)

iv)

v)

vi)

vii)

Describe the firm’s approach and philosophy in providing performance evaluation
information, and the specific process that the firm uses to provide direction to the
Board in monitoring performance relative to the investment policy and goals.
Describe the investment performance process, including benchmarks used to
analyze and evaluate performance of the total portfolio, each asset class, and
individual investment managers.
Describe the firm’s methodology in calculating individual manager returns,
including the treatment of cash flows and fees. Are all performance reports
compliant with AIMR Performance Presentations Standards?
Detail your criteria and procedures for recommending termination of an
investment manager or mutual fund. Over what time period should the evaluation
be considered? Given your criteria, how frequently do you recommend a change
in managers?
Describe the firm’s performance reporting capabilities. What databases are used
for performance comparison? Describe the methodology the firm employs to
ensure the accuracy, timeliness and integrity of the data. How flexible is the
reporting system in terms of accommodating special requests?
Include a description of any external sources that the firm uses to provide
investment performance analysis. Describe the software packages used (identify
vendors and packages). How long have these systems (external or internal)
been in place?
Provide a complete sample report that illustrates the type of information given
and the format of quarterly reports to the Board.
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f.

Fees

i)
ii)
iii)
iv)

What is the proposed fee structure, including start up fees, annual fees, and all
other fees?
Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided in exchange for the
proposed fee.
Enclose a sample investment management contract with a fee schedule.
Indicate any other direct or indirect compensation your firm may receive as a
result of this engagement.

g. Miscellaneous
i)

ii)
iii)

iv)

v)
vi)
vii)

Please provide a list of at least five references similar to the Oak Brook Police
Pension Fund. The listing should include contact names, addresses, and
telephone number as well as amount of assets managed.
Please provide information regarding any formal complaints, sanctions, or
litigation against your firm in the last five years.
Discuss recommendations for custody of assets. Are you affiliated with this
custodian? Would you receive any compensation for this custodian in regard to
the Fund? Are any custodian services delegated to other firms? Itemize all
costs to the Fund should they choose to take your recommendations in regard to
custody.
Does your firm practice in any underwriting activities, either direct or in
arrangements with other financial institutions? Please disclose what bonds or
stocks in your current portfolios are the result of such transactions and explain
what fees or compensation your firm receives in such transactions.
Please state whether you are willing to acknowledge that you are a fiduciary of
funds as defined in 40 ILCS 5/1-101.2
If requested, what other services could your firm provide?
If you are a Registered Investment Advisor please provide your most current
ADV I and ADV II.

Section 5. Review Process
A. Basis of Award and Selection Process
Basis of Award
The Oak Brook Police Pension Fund reserves the right to reject any or all proposals and to
waive any informality or technical error and to accept any proposal deemed most favorable to
the interests of the Fund. As the basis for award, the Fund will consider (not in specific order):
1.

Qualifications of the investment management team assigned to this engagement.

2.

Overall quality, completeness, and thoroughness of the proposal.

3.

Past investment performance of similar funds.

4.

References.

5.

Oral interview.
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6.

The amount of the proposed fee.

7.

Prior experience with similar Illinois public pension funds.

A sub-committee of the Board as well as the Treasurer will initially screen all responses to this
request for proposal. After the initial screening, it is expected that three to five firms will be
invited to give an oral presentation to the entire Board.
Additional criteria to be used include:
1.

Ability, capacity and skill to fulfill the contract as specified.

2.

Ability to provide the services within the time specified, without delay or interference.

3.

Character, integrity, reputation, judgment, experience and efficiency.

4.

Quality of performance on previous contracts.

5.

Previous and existing compliance with laws and ordinances relating to the contract.

6.

Sufficiency of financial resources.

7.

Quality, availability and adaptability in relation to the Fund’s requirements.

8.

Ability to provide future maintenance and service under the contract.

9.

Number and scope of conditions attached to the proposal.

B. Terms and Conditions
1.

Any contract or agreement resulting from the acceptance of this proposal by the Pension
Fund shall be on forms supplied by the Fund’s attorney.

2.

If, through any cause, the investment consultant fails to fulfill any of the obligations agreed
to in a timely and proper manner, the Fund shall have the right to terminate the contract by
notifying the consultant in writing of such termination at least 30 calendar days in advance
of such termination.

3.

The Fund reserves the right to request clarification of information submitted and request
additional information as needed.

4.

Requests for additional information concerning this RFP should be directed to Sharon
Dangles, Finance Director/Treasurer, 630-368-5072.
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Section 6. Attachments
Attachment A – Current Investment Listing
Attachment B – Investment Policy
Attachment C – Actuarial Information
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